Filed 01-17-2023

Page 1 of 34

FILED 01-17-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case Nos. 2022AP1373-CR; 2022AP1374-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KALE K. KEDING,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from the Judgments of Conviction in the Wood County Circuit Court, the Honorable Nicholas J. Brazeau, Jr. Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CARLOS BAILEY Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1113630

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8259 baileyc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the circuit court apply the wrong standard when considering Keding's motion to suppress statements Keding made to law enforcement after he was formally arrested and had just invoked his right to counsel?

The circuit court, after finding that Keding had invoked his right to counsel and that law enforcement's questioning needed to stop, determined that Keding's statements were nevertheless admissible because they were voluntary and not in response to investigative questioning. This Court should find that the circuit court applied the wrong standard.

2. Should the above statements that Keding made to law enforcement after his arrest be suppressed?

The circuit court answered no. This Court should reverse and grant suppression of the stationhouse statements because the State did not meet its burden of proof to show that Keding validly waived the right he had just invoked—his right to counsel—because the officers never administered *Miranda* warnings to Keding.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested as Keding anticipates that the briefing will fully address the issue presented. Publication is not requested as the appeal involves the application of well-settled law to the facts of the case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASES

On June 16, 2021, the State filed a single-count complaint in Wood County charging Keding with possession of cocaine, a misdemeanor violation of Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c). (R1.2). The allegations stemmed from a traffic stop on May 30, 2021 that resulted in Keding's arrest. (R1.2; 21:12; App. 27). He was booked for the offense and released soon thereafter, and he remained out of custody on a signature bond until his second arrest on November 7, 2021. (R1.5; 19:2–3).

On November 8, 2021, the State filed a second complaint in Wood County alleging Keding violated the conditions of his bond the night before. (R2.2). The single-count complaint charged Keding with misdemeanor bail jumping, in violation of Wis. Stat.

8

¹ "R1" refers to the court record in 2022AP1373, Wood County circuit court case no. 21-CM-318; "R2" refers to 2022AP1374, Wood County circuit court case no. 21-CM-617. Where the records are duplicative (i.e. where the same filing appears in both records), a single site to "R1" is used for simplicity.

§ 946.49(1)(a). (R2.2). Keding was again released on a signature bond. (R2.5; 16:3–4).

On November 11, 2021, the circuit court held an evidentiary hearing on Keding's motion to suppress statements he made to law enforcement during the May 30th traffic stop and at the stationhouse following his arrest. (R1.21; 10; App. 3–13, 16–40). Two officers testified at the hearing (R1.21:4–10; 11–21; App. 19–25, 26–31), and the parties played portions of Officer Able's body camera footage, which was admitted into evidence. (R1.11; 21:6–9, 14–17; App. 21–24, 29–32). (Keding's motion also cites to sections of the officer's body camera recording). (R1.10:2–4; App. 4–6).

At the conclusion of the hearing, the circuit court granted the motion in part. The court ruled that Keding's statements to officers during the traffic stop were inadmissible. (R1.21:22–23; App. 37–38). Keding's stationhouse statements, however, would not be suppressed, per the court's ruling, and would be otherwise admissible at trial. (R1.21:21–23; App. 36–38).

Shortly after the suppression ruling, the parties reached a plea agreement resolving both cases. (R1.12; R2.8). On November 18, 2021, the circuit court held a plea and sentencing hearing. (R1.22). In exchange for Keding's agreement to enter no-contest pleas to both of the charged misdemeanors, the State agreed to amend the drug offense from possession of cocaine to possession of a controlled substance. (R1.22:2). The parties clarified that the agreement included a joint

recommendation for a year-long period of probation, with the assessment of court costs and any counseling deemed necessary as conditions thereto. (R1.22:2, 7–8).

The circuit court accepted Keding's pleas, adjudicated him guilty of both offenses, and entered judgment on the convictions. (R1.22:7). The court then withheld sentence, adopting the joint recommendation in full. (R1.22:9).

On November 24, 2021, Keding filed timely notice of his intent to pursue postconviction relief. (R1.16; R2.12). On December 23, 2021, appellate counsel was appointed and requested the court record in each case, including the preparation of hearing transcripts. On August 11, 2022, Keding filed notice of appeal in both cases. (R1.28; R2.20). On September 21, 2022, the circuit court transmitted the record on appeal. On October 7, 2022, upon Keding's motion, this Court consolidated both of Keding's cases, and this appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 30, 2021, Keding and another passenger were getting a ride home after a night out when the three of them were pulled over for a defective brake light shortly before 4:00 A.M. (R1.2:1; 21:4; App. 19). During the course of the stop, law enforcement searched the car and its three occupants, and then questioned the occupants extensively about a small

amount of cocaine that the officers found in the driver's side door. (R1.11.25:30 $-36:00^2$).

The officers initially decided to release and charge all three suspects for the offense, since none of the occupants were willing to admit ownership. (R1.11.48:55–49:15). The driver then told the officers that he knew Keding had used cocaine earlier that night. (R1.11.52:55–53:40).

Throughout the stop, Keding steadfastly denied all knowledge of the cocaine the officers found in the car. (R.1.11.39:25-40:30; 56:50–1:05:50). However, he did acknowledge past issues with substance abuse, and eventually confessed to relapsing on a different substance that night. (R1.11.39:25–44:03; 1:00:40–1:06:45). Eventually, the officers decided to arrest Keding and turn everyone else loose. (R1.11.1:10:39–1:13:45).

² The audio-recording admitted at the suppression hearing, record 1 item 11, is one hour, fifty minutes and twenty seconds in length. Citations to the recording appear in the following format: "R1.11." followed by an initial timestamp, and an ending timestamp, where appropriate. Thus, the citation "R1.11.25:30–36:00" refers to the time between the twenty-fifth minute and thirty second mark, and the thirty-sixth minute in the video.

It is undisputed (and the circuit court would later find) that Keding was not provided with his Miranda³ warnings at any point during the stop, or during his subsequent arrest. (R.1.21:9, 18, 21-22; App. 24, 33, 36–37).

While being booked, Officer Able told Keding that she had more questions for him, but that she first needed to read him his *Miranda* rights:

> OFFICER ABLE: [B]ecause you're in custody, I'd have to read you your Miranda rights. Do you think you'd be willing to answer questions or are you thinking no already?

> KEDING: Seeing as how I got arrested, I'm going to need a lawyer.

> OFFICER ABLE: So you're wishing to remain silent?

> KEDING: I don't want to but I guess I'm going to have to.

(R1.11.1:31:33–1:32:05).

Officer Able later testified that she never finished reading Keding his *Miranda* rights. (R1.21:9; App. 24).

³ In *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 467 (1966), the United States Supreme Court established a set of procedural warnings in order to protect the Fifth Amendment rights of an accused from the pressures of a custodial interrogation conducted by the police.

Less than one minute later, after seeing Keding throw something into the waste-bin, Officer Scheppler asked Keding what it was that he threw away. (R1.11.1:32:35–1:32:40; R1.21:12; App. 27).

OFFICER SCHEPPLER: What did you toss in there?

KEDING: A Kleenex. It might have some residue for you.

OFFICER SCHEPPLER: Alright. [Approximately 40 seconds pass⁴.] So, you were saying some residue might be on the Kleenex or what?

KEDING: In the snot. There's going to be a little cocaine in there.

OFFICER SCHEPPLER: Some cocaine?

KEDING: Yeah, I did some at the bar. I forgot about it...."

(R1.11.1:32:35-1:32:45; 1:33:23-1:33:37).

Officer Scheppler later testified that he had not asked Keding what he had thrown away for the purpose of gathering evidence related to the possession charges. (R1.21:13; App. 28). However, the officer also acknowledged that he repeated Keding's statements back to him because he was "curious what the Kleenex might have tested for when [Keding] said residue." (R1.21:13–14; App. 28–29). Officer Scheppler

⁴ The dialogue is difficult to understand during these 40 seconds as several people were speaking at once.

admitted that he was trying to initiate a conversation with Keding about the cocaine by asking these questions. (R1.21:15, 17–18; App. 30, 32–33).

At the suppression hearing, body camera footage of Keding's statement invoking his right to counsel to Officer Able, as well as Officer Scheppler's subsequent questioning about the Kleenex, was played for the court. (R1.21:6–9, 14–17; App. 21–24, 29–32).

Keding argued that suppression of his stationhouse statements was warranted because his rights had been violated when Officer Scheppler reinitiated questioning after Keding unambiguously invoked his right to counsel without ever providing Keding with the *Miranda* warnings. (R1.10:7–11; App. 9–13).

The circuit court found that the officers failed to give the *Miranda* warnings. (R1.21:21; App. 36). The court found that Keding invoked his right to counsel, and at that point, there could be no more interrogation after that time. (R1.21:21; App. 36). Further, the circuit court found that Officer Scheppler was not doing an investigation when he asked Keding what it was that he threw away. (R1.21:21-22; App. 36–37).

Just a few days before the suppression hearing was held, on November 7, 2021, Keding was arrested for a second time by the Marshfield police. (R2.2).

According to the Complaint in the second case on appeal, an officer responded to a local tavern after a bartender complained that Keding was refusing to leave. (R2.2:1). Keding smelled like alcohol, according to the officer, and appeared to have had several drinks based on his speech, his glossy eyes, and according to the complaining bartender, who told the police he had served Keding earlier that night. (R2.2:1). The officer learned that Keding had been released on bond while facing possession charges and that his conditions of release included absolute sobriety. (R2.2:1-2; R1.5:1). Following his arrest, the State charged Keding with misdemeanor bail jumping the following day. (R2.2).

ARGUMENT

- I. The circuit court erred when it denied Keding's motion to suppress the statements Keding made to law enforcement immediately after he invoked his right to counsel.
 - A. Standard of Review and Applicable Law

"Ordinarily, a guilty plea waives all non-jurisdictional defects and defenses." State v. Conner, 2012 WI App 105, ¶15, 344 Wis. 2d 233, 821 N.W.2d 267 (quoting State v. Hampton, 2010 WI App 169, ¶23, 330 Wis. 2d 531, 793 N.W.2d 901, rev denied, 2011 WI 29, 332 Wis. 2d 279, 797 N.W.2d 524). "However, 'a narrowly crafted exception to this rule exists,' which permits appellate review of an order denying a motion to suppress

evidence, not withstanding a guilty plea." *Id*; see also Wis. Stat. § 971.31(10).

This Court reviews a denial of a suppression motion under a two-part standard of review: findings of fact will be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous, but it reviews *de novo* whether those facts warrant suppression. *Conner*, 344 Wis. 2d 233, ¶15 (citing *Hampton*, 330 Wis. 2d 531, ¶23).

In *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 467 (1966), the Supreme Court established a set of procedural warnings in order to protect the Fifth Amendment rights of an accused from the "inherently compelling pressures" of custodial interrogation. *State v. Harris*, 199 Wis. 2d 227, 237-38, 544 N.W.2d 545 (1996); *State v. Markwardt*, 2007 WI App 242, ¶23, 306 Wis. 2d 420, 742 N.W.2d 546. These rights include both the suspect's right to remain silent, and the right to legal counsel. *Markwardt*, 306 Wis. 2d 420, ¶¶23-24.

The right to counsel, when invoked, expresses the "[suspect's] desire to deal with the police only through counsel." *Conner*, 344 Wis. 2d 233, ¶16. "The police must immediately cease questioning a suspect who clearly invokes the *Miranda* right to counsel at any point during custodial interrogation." *State v. Jennings*, 2002 WI 44, ¶26, 252 Wis. 2d 228, 647 N.W.2d 142; *see also McNeil v. Wisconsin*, 501 U.S. 171, 176-77, (1991) ("In *Edwards v. Arizona*, 451 U.S. 477 (1981), we established a second layer of prophylaxis for the *Miranda* right to counsel: Once a suspect asserts the right, not only must the current

Case 2022AP001373 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-17-2023 Page 17 of 34

interrogation cease, but he may not be approached for further interrogation 'until counsel has been made available to him.").

To determine whether suppression is warranted on right to counsel grounds, this court must first determine whether a suspect unequivocally invoked his right to counsel. *Conner*, 344 Wis. 2d 233, ¶16 (citing *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 444-45 (1966)). If the right to counsel was invoked, this court must then determine whether the suspect (1) initiated subsequent, further discussions with the police, and (2) knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived the right which he had previously invoked. *Conner*, 344 Wis. 2d 233, ¶16 (citing *Edwards v. Arizona*, 451 U.S. 477, 486 n.9 (1981)).

The sufficiency of the invocation of right to counsel—as well as whether the suspect initiated further communication with police, and whether he knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his Fifth Amendment *Miranda* right to counsel—are all reviewed under the same two-pronged standard: this court will uphold the trial court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous, but it independently reviews the application of constitutional principles to those facts. *Conner*, 344 Wis. 2d 233, ¶17 (citing *State v. Jennings*, 2002 WI 44, ¶20, 252 Wis. 2d 228, 647 N.W.2d 142; *State v. Hambly*, 2008 WI 10, ¶71, 307 Wis. 2d 98, 745 N.W.2d 48).

B. The circuit court correctly found that Keding unequivocally invoked his right to counsel.

"In order to invoke the Fifth Amendment right to counsel, a suspect is required to 'articulate his desire to have counsel present sufficiently clearly that a reasonable police officer in the circumstances would understand the statement to be a request for an attorney." *State v. Hampton*, 2010 WI App 169, ¶29, 330 Wis. 2d 531, 793 N.W.2d 901 (citing *State v. Jennings*, 2002 WI 44, ¶30, 252 Wis. 2d 228, 647 N.W.2d 142).

The request must be unambiguous; a mere reference to an attorney is not sufficient to invoke the right. *Hampton*, 330 Wis. 2d 531, ¶29. Conditional or equivocal statements such as "maybe I should talk to a lawyer," or a suspect's query as to whether she should have a lawyer during questioning, are not clear and unequivocal requests for counsel. *Id.*; *State v. Ward*, 2009 WI 60, ¶43, 318 Wis. 2d 301, 767 N.W.2d 236.

Rather, a suspect must actually request an attorney to validly invoke the Fifth Amendment *Miranda* right to counsel. *See Hampton*, 330 Wis. 2d 531, ¶29 (citing *Davis v. United States*, 512 U.S. 452, 461 (1994)); *See also, State v. Conner*, 2012 WI App 105, 344 Wis. 2d 233, 821 N.W.2d 267 (suspect's statement, "I want to consult with a lawyer and talk to the lawyer, ok?" was clear and unequivocal request for attorney). A successful invocation of the right

Case 2022AP001373 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-17-2023 Page 19 of 34

requires a suspect to "articulate his desire to have counsel present sufficiently clearly that a reasonable police officer in the circumstances would understand the statement to be a request for an attorney." *State v. Hampton*, 2010 WI App 169, ¶29, 330 Wis. 2d 531, 793 N.W.2d 901 (citing *State v. Jennings*, 2002 WI 44, ¶30, 252 Wis. 2d 228, 647 N.W.2d 142).

Here, Keding's request is neither ambiguous, nor is it conditioned on the occurrence of some hypothetical future event. It cannot be reasonably disputed that Keding made an unambiguous, clear, and unequivocal request for counsel: "Seeing as how I got arrested, I'm going to need a lawyer." (R1.11.1:31:50–1:31:55).

Moreover, Officer Abel and Officer Scheppler both understood Keding's request to be an invocation of the right to counsel. During cross examination, Officer Abel stated that it was her understanding that Keding had invoked his right to counsel at the time he made the statement. (R1.21:9; App. 24). Officer Scheppler stated that he was aware that Keding had invoked his right to an attorney when he reinitiated contact after seeing Keding throw the tissue in the wastebasket. (R1.21:15; App. 29).

As to when the suspect may invoke the Fifth Amendment *Miranda* right to counsel, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has upheld an in-custody suspect's request for counsel even when it was made prior to police interrogation and before *Miranda*

Case 2022AP001373 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-17-2023 Page 20 of 34

warnings were provided. State v. Hambly, 2008 WI 10, $\P\P3$, 43-44, 307 Wis. 2d 98, 745 N.W.2d 48.

In *Hambly*, the defendant successfully argued that he invoked his right to counsel by requesting a lawyer after he was taken into custody but before he was interrogated. *Hambly*, 307 Wis. 2d 98, ¶2. The court found that law enforcement had made it clear to the suspect that the officer intended to question them. *Id.*, ¶35. The court further found that it was reasonable for the suspect to conclude that the officer would continue to attempt to interrogate him in a custodial setting should he refuse to speak. *Id.*, ¶35. Further, the court found that at the time the request for counsel was made, the discussion between the suspect and law enforcement centered on whether the defendant would permit the officer to interview him. *Id.*, ¶36.

HamblyThe found these court that circumstances of impending interrogation demonstrated that the defendant, unlike the suspects in several cases relied upon by the State, had "expressed a desire for the assistance of an attorney 'in dealing with custodial interrogation by the police". Id., ¶37 (citing *McNeil v. Wisconsin*, 501 U.S. 171, 179, (1991) emphasis in original). "Because the defendant was in custody and had a reasonable belief that interrogation was imminent or impending, his request for counsel was an effective invocation of his Fifth Amendment Miranda right to counsel under both the 'anytime in custody' standard and the

'imminent or impending interrogation' temporal standard⁵." *Id.*, ¶43.

The circumstances in this case, like those in *Hambly*, demonstrate that Keding invoked his right to counsel to assist with custodial interrogation by the police. As in *Hambly*, Keding had a reasonable belief that interrogation was imminent or impending when he requested counsel. Immediately prior to Keding's request for counsel, Officer Abel asked Keding whether he would be willing to answer questions:

OFFICER ABLE: [B]ecause you're in custody, I'd have to read you your *Miranda* rights. Do you think you'd be willing to answer questions or are you thinking no already?

⁵ The *Hambly* court was evenly divided on whether it was necessary for the court to adopt a temporal standard to determine whether a suspect in custody had effectively invoked the right to counsel. Hambly., 307 Wis. 2d 98, ¶¶4, 32. Three justices concluded that a suspect could effectively invoke the right to counsel as long as the suspect was in custody, and the suspect made an unequivocal request to speak with an attorney, even if the request was made before interrogation was imminent or impending (the so-called "anytime in custody" temporal standard). Id. The advocates of the "anytime in custody" standard concluded that adopting a temporal requirement of "impending or imminent interrogation" would contravene Miranda. Id. The remaining three justices (Justice Ziegler did not participate), including the author of the opinion, concluded that it was not necessary to choose between the "anytime in custody" standard and the "imminent or impending interrogation" standard, because the defendant's request for an attorney satisfied both standards. Id., ¶¶5, 33.

Case 2022AP001373 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-17-2023 Page 22 of 34

KEDING: Seeing as how I got arrested, I'm going to need a lawyer.

(R1.11.1:31:33-1:31:55).

The circuit court, thus, correctly determined that "[Keding] invoked his right to an attorney and that there could be no more interrogation after that time....." (R1.21:21; App. 36). But the court erred in allowing continued questioning, violating the rule in *Edwards*: "[A]n accused...having expressed his desire to deal with the police only through counsel, is not subject to further interrogation by the authorities until counsel has been made available to him, unless the accused himself initiates further communication, exchanges, or conversations with the police." *State v. Conner*, 344 Wis. 2d 233, ¶16 (quoting *Edwards v. Arizona*, 451 U.S. 477, 784-85 (1981)).

C. The circuit court applied the wrong standard in determining the admissibility of Keding's statements, impermissibly shifting the burden of proof onto the defense.

Here, the circuit court erred when it determined that despite Keding's valid invocation of counsel—and the court's statement "that there could be no more interrogation after that time"—Keding's responses to Officer Scheppler's questions were nevertheless admissible at trial because they were voluntary statements. The court found the statements voluntary because they were "not elicited by the questioning of the officer." (R1.21:21-22; App. 36-37). The circuit

Case 2022AP001373 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-17-2023 Page 23 of 34

court cited no authority for its determination, which contravenes the rule in *Edwards*.

The court applied the wrong standard in considering the voluntariness of his statements. "[O]nce a defendant has invoked the right to counsel, police interrogation must cease unless the accused initiates 'further communication, exchanges or conversations with the police' after the right has been invoked." State v. Turner, 136 Wis. 2d 333, 346, 401 N.W.2d 827 (1987) (citing Edwards v. Arizona, 45 U.S. at 484-85). However, "[e]ven after a suspect in custody asks to speak with a lawyer, thereby requiring that 'all interrogation must cease until a lawyer is present,' a suspect may waive his Fifth Amendment Miranda right to counsel." State v. Hampton, 2010 WI App 169, ¶40, 330 Wis. 2d 531, 793 N.W.2d 901 (citing State v. Hambly, 2008 WI 10, ¶67, 307 Wis. 2d 98, 745 N.W.2d 48)). The burden is on the State to demonstrate that the suspect initiated further communication with the police and the suspect's subsequent waiver was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. Id. (citing Hambly, 307 Wis. 2d 98, \P 68-70).

There are two applicable questions that the circuit court needed to ask after finding that Keding invoked his right to counsel. The first was: Did Keding initiate further contact with law enforcement after he invoked his right to counsel? The second was: If so, did Keding knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waive his right to counsel a second time. *Hambly*, 307 Wis. 2d 98, ¶¶69-70.

1. Keding did not initiate contact with Officer Scheppler by throwing a tissue into the trash therefore Officer Scheppler was precluded from further questioning Keding.

Here, under either standard established in *Oregon v. Bradshaw*, 462 U.S. 1039 (1983), discussed below, Keding did not initiate further communication with the police after he invoked his right to counsel.

In *Bradshaw*, a four-justice plurality held that questions or statements that, under the totality of the circumstances, "evinced a willingness and a desire for a generalized discussion about the investigation" were sufficient to constitute "initiation." *Bradshaw*, 462 U.S. at 1045–46. Those relating to routine incidents of the custodial relationship," however, were not. *Id.* The four-justice dissent supplied its own test, which focused on a suspect's communication or dialogue with law enforcement about the subject matter of the criminal investigation. *Id.*, 1053.

In *State v. Hambly*, 307 Wis. 2d 98, ¶75, the Wisconsin Supreme Court concluded that it was free to choose either test but that it need not make the choice under the facts of that case, as its analysis and conclusion would not differ under either test. *Id*.

Similarly, here, it is unlikely that the analysis and conclusion would yield different results under either test. It cannot be credibly argued that Keding's conduct after he invoked his right to counsel—standing up and throwing away a tissue—constitutes

further communication with law enforcement. There is nothing in the record to suggest that Keding intended to communicate anything to anyone by throwing his trash into the wastebasket. Therefore, Officer Scheppler was wrong to reinitiate questioning.

The undisputed record shows that Officer Scheppler interrogated Keding only moments after Keding had invoked the right to counsel, questioning Keding about the presence of cocaine residue on a tissue that he witnessed Keding throw away:

OFFICER SCHEPPLER: What did you toss in there?

KEDING: A Kleenex. It might have some residue for you.

OFFICER SCHEPPLER: Alright. [Approximately 40 seconds pass.] So, you were saying some residue might be on the Kleenex or what?

KEDING: In the snot. There's going to be a little cocaine in there.

OFFICER SCHEPPLER: Some cocaine?

KEDING: Yeah, I did some at the bar. I forgot about it...."

(R1.11.1:32:35-1:32:45; 1:33:23-1:33:37).

Case 2022AP001373 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-17-2023 Page 26 of 34

In State v. Hambly, 2008 WI 10, 307 Wis. 2d 98, 745 N.W.2d 48, after finding that the defendant had effectively invoked his right to counsel, the court then looked to whether the subsequent interaction between the defendant and a police officer constituted interrogation. Hambly, 307 Wis. 2d 98, ¶¶44-45. The Hambly court looked to Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291 (1980), where the United States Supreme Court held that interrogation under *Miranda* refers to express questioning, as well as "the functional equivalent of questioning." Hambly. express 307 Wis. 2d 98, ¶46 (citing Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. at 301).

Express questioning, however, does encompass every inquiry directed at the suspect; rather, it covers only questions "designed to elicit incriminatory admissions." State v. Harris, 2017 WI 31, ¶15, 374 Wis. 2d 271, 89 N.W.2d 663 (quoting Pennsylvania v. Muniz, 496 U.S. 582, 602, n.14, Similarly, the functional equivalent of (1990)). express questioning means "any words or actions on the part of the police, other than those normally attendant to arrest and custody, that the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response." Hambly, 307 Wis. 2d 98, ¶46 (citing Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. at 301).

Thus, "[i]t is the nature of the information the question is trying to reach...that determines whether it is inquisitorial. If that information has no potential to incriminate the suspect, the question requires no

Miranda warnings." Harris, 374 Wis. 2d 271, ¶9 (citing Doe v. United States, 487 U.S. 201, 211 (1988)).

Lastly, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has stated its agreement that "a court should be wary of viewing a suspect's every statement or question as an invitation to interrogation." *Hambly*, 307 Wis. 2d 98, ¶99.

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