FILED 02-14-2023 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

CASE NOS. 2022AP1373-CR; 2022AP1374-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KALE K. KEDING,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENTS OF CONVICTIONS IN THE WOOD COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE NICHOLAS J. BRAZEAU, JR. PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Submitted by:

Austin M. Mogard Assistant District Attorney Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent Wisconsin State Bar No. 1123858

Wood County District Attorney's Office 400 Market Street P.O. Box 8095 Wisconsin Rapids, WI 54495-8095 (715) 421-8515

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

ARGUMENT

I. The statements made by the Defendant-Appellant were not part of a custodial interrogation and outside <u>Miranda</u> protections.

The Supreme Court established a set of procedural warnings in order to protect those in custody from further

custodial interrogation. Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 500, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 1641, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966) ("Now, the Court fashions a constitutional rule that the police may engage in no custodial interrogation without additionally advising the accused that he has a right under the Fifth Amendment to the presence of counsel during interrogation and that, if he is without funds, counsel will be furnished him."), See also State v. Harris, 199 Wis. 2d 227, 238, 544 N.W.2d 545, 549 (1996). As such, for those protections under Miranda to apply, the accused must (1) be in custody or detained and (2) be subjected to police "interrogation." Id.

The protections under Miranda "come into play whenever custody is subjected to either express person in questioning or its functional equivalent." Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291, 301, 100 S. Ct. 1682, 1689, 64 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1980), See also State v. Hambly, 2008 WI 10, \P 46, 307 Wis. 2d 98, 125, 745 N.W.2d 48, 61. The "functional equivalent of express questioning" is "any words or actions on the part of the police (other than those normally attendant to arrest and custody) that the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response from the suspect." Id. In Cunningham, the Wisconsin Supreme

Court solidified the Innis test to determine whether a question or action is an interrogation.

The Innis test can be stated as follows: if an objective observer (with the same knowledge of the suspect as the police officer) could, on the sole hearing the officer's basis of remarks observing the officer's conduct, conclude that the officer's conduct or words would be likely to elicit an incriminating response, that is, could reasonably have had the force of a question on the suspect, then the conduct or words constitute interrogation.

State v. Cunningham, 144 Wis. 2d 272, 278-79, 423 N.W.2d 862, 864 (1988). Wisconsin statute reflects "interrogation" requiring some conduct that would likely elicit incriminating response as in Innis:

"Custodial interrogation" means an interrogation by a law enforcement officer or an agent of a law enforcement agency of a person suspected of committing a crime from the time the suspect is or should be informed of his or her rights to counsel and to remain silent until the questioning ends, during which the officer or agent asks a question that is reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response and during which a reasonable person in the suspect's position would believe that he or she is in custody or otherwise deprived of his or her freedom of action in any significant way.

Wis. Stat. § 968.073(1)(a). Thus, whether the accused is subject to an interrogation is based on if there is a nexus between the words or actions of the police and reasonable likelihood that those words or actions will elicit an incriminating response from the accused. If the words or actions would be reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response, they are an "interrogation" and the accused is protected by the Miranda safeguards and any answer is not admissible absent a valid waiver. If the words or actions would not be reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response, police they а are not "interrogation" and Miranda safeguards do not apply making an answer to the word or action admissible.

In this case, the Defendant-Appellant was not properly read his rights under <u>Miranda</u>, however validly invoked his right to be represented by an attorney during custodial interrogation and told the officers that he wished to remain

silent. R21 at 21:9-10; Appellant's Brief at 12. During the booking procedures at the Marshfield Police Department, the officers observed the Defendant-Appellant throwing something into the trash but did not see what it was. R21 at 12:12-19. This led to the following interaction:

OFFICER SCHEPPLER: What did you toss in there?

KEDING: A Kleenex. It might have some residue for

you.

OFFICER SCHEPPLER: Alright. So, you were saying some residue might be on the Kleenex or what?

KEDING: In the snot. There's going to be a little cocaine in there.

OFFICER SCHEPPLER: Some cocaine?

KEDING: Yeah, I did some at the bar. I forgot about it..."

Appellant's Brief at 13. The statements were made during the booking procedure. Officer Abel testified that as part of those booking procedures officers ask questions of accused, including what they have on their person. R21 at 5:22-6:5. This is done due both as a safety concern and for the purposes of taking inventory. R21 at 6:6-12.

Whether the Defendant-Appellant was in custody is not in dispute. Officer Abel herself told him that he was in custody. Appellant's Brief at 12. However, the interaction does not rise to the level of an "interrogation." Officer Scheppler asked the Defendant-Appellant what he threw in the wastebasket. Such a question is reasonable and neutral without a reasonable likelihood of producing the response he got. Furthermore, the question was related to the booking procedure in that it was about what was on the Defendant-Appellant's person. Applying the Innis test, an objective observer would see that it was a question that would not elicit an incriminating response with the officer's knowledge.

Arguendo, it is also a question normally attendant to arrest and custody. The question was during the booking procedure, where the officers ask questions about what the accused have on their person. One of the reasons for those procedures is safety. Due to the officer not seeing what was thrown away that the Defendant-Appellant had in their possession, it would be a normal question to ask during custody. Due to the question not being an "interrogation," it and the response fall outside Miranda's safeguards.

The second and third questions asked by Officer Scheppler are not an "interrogation." Officer Scheppler testified that the second question was not investigatory,

but rather a laugh and repeating what the Defendant-Appellant just said. R21 at 13:14-22. Indeed, the circuit court pointed out that the question is a reaction and confirmation of what the Defendant-Appellant just stated. R21 at 21:23-24:1; 23:3-4. The third question was a mere restatement of a word that the Defendant-Appellant used. R21 at 13:18-22. The written record does not reflect what kinds of voice inflections, tones, or cadences occurred during those questions. Neither, "on the sole basis of hearing the officer's remarks" would elicit an incriminating response, as it was more a statement in disbelief of what the Defendant-Appellant just said. State v. Cunningham, at 278-79.

None of the questions are an "interrogation" and, thus, are not subject to the protections provided by Miranda. Therefore, they were properly deemed admissible.

II. The circuit court did not err in its findings.

Cole is not applicable in this case. There, Cole was arrested for battery against his wife and taken into custody. He was ordered to have no contact with his wife, but wrote letters and made phone calls to other family members instructing them to prevent his wife from coming to his trial. The Milwaukee Police Department learned of this after opening one of his letters and a detective interrogated him. The detective advised Cole of his Miranda rights, and interrogated him after he waived them. He was subsequently charged with two counts of intimidation of a witness. State v. Cole, 2008 WI App 178, ¶¶ 4-7, 315 Wis. 2d 75, 81-82, 762 N.W.2d 711, 714-15.

Here, there was no interrogation so there need not be a voluntary waiver. Rather, it is appropriate for a court to find that the State showed that the statements were made outside of Miranda.

The circuit court ultimately made a finding that is consistent that the statements were made outside of the Miranda safeguards. Specifically, the circuit court found: (1) the officers did not give the proper Miranda warnings (R21 at 21:9-10), (2) there could be no more interrogation (R21 at 21:10-12), (3) that the Defendant-Appellant provided a voluntary statement (R21 at 21:13-14), (4) that the officer asking what the Defendant-Appellant threw in the trash was reasonable (R21 at 21:15-20), (5) the questions were not part of an investigation (R21 at 21:22; 25), and (6) the responses were not elicited by an officer (R21 at 22:3-4).

A court need not use "magic words" when making a finding. See Marathon County v. D.K., 2020 WI 8, ¶66, 390 Wis. 2d 50, 937 N.W.2d 901 (Rebecca Grassl Bradley, J., concurring) ("We do not impose a " 'magic words' " requirement in the law and this court has repeatedly rejected them." (citations omitted)); see also State v. Lepsch, 2017 WI 27, ¶36, 374 2d 98, 892 N.W.2d 682 (rejecting "magic words" Wis. requirement in the context of a circuit court inquiring about juror bias); State v. Wantland, 2014 WI 58, ¶33, 355 Wis. 2d 135, 848 N.W.2d 810 (rejecting "magic words" requirement in context of withdrawing consent under the Fourth Amendment (citation omitted)); Elections Bd. v. Wisconsin Mfrs. & Com., 227 Wis. 2d 650, 654, 669-70, 597 N.W.2d 721 (1999) (rejecting "magic words" requirement in context of what is required to be "express advocacy"); ECO, Inc. v. City of Elkhorn, 2002 WI App 302, ¶23, 259 Wis. 2d 276, 655 N.W.2d 510 ("None of these statutes requires a [public records] request to contain any 'magic words' nor do they prohibit the use of any words."). Here, the findings made by the circuit court were sufficient to show the conclusion that it found the statements to be outside the safeguards of Miranda.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, it is respectfully requested that this court affirm the trial court's denial of the suppression motion.